RECEIVED

06-25-2010

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN**

STATE OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2010AP000411 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

STEVEN A. AVERY,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from Judgments of Conviction and an
Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered
in the Manitowoc County Circuit Court,
The Honorable Patrick L. Willis, Presiding

BRIEF OF
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

SUZANNE L. HAGOPIAN
Assistant State Public Defender
State Bar No. 1000179
hagopians@opd.wi.gov

MARTHA K. ASKINS
Assistant State Public Defender
State Bar No. 1008032
askinsm@opd.wi.gov

Office of the State Public Defender
Post Office Box 7862

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Did the search of Avery's bedroom during the sixth entry into his trailer home violate the constitutional guarantee against unreasonable search and seizure, thereby requiring suppression of the key to Halbach's vehicle that was found during the search?

The trial court answered: No.

- II. Must Avery's convictions be reversed and a new trial ordered because the court barred him from presenting third-party liability evidence, thus depriving him of the right to present a defense?

The trial court answered: No.

- III. Must Avery's convictions be reversed and a new trial ordered because, contrary to constitutional and statutory guarantees, the court removed a deliberating juror without cause and substituted an alternate who should have been discharged when deliberations began?

The trial court answered: No.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The appellant does not request oral argument. Publication is warranted, however, because the case raises issues of first impression.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction and order denying postconviction relief in Manitowoc County, the Honorable Patrick L. Willis, presiding.

On November 15, 2005, in Manitowoc County, the state filed a criminal complaint charging Steven A. Avery with first degree intentional homicide and mutilation of a corpse. The criminal complaint alleged that Avery had killed Teresa Halbach, a young woman and freelance photographer who had come to the Avery salvage yard to photograph a car for sale. (1).

The case eventually proceeded to trial on February 5, 2007, before the Honorable Patrick L. Willis. (269). A jury convicted Avery of first degree intentional homicide as well as a subsequently added charge of felon in possession of a firearm. (256, 258; App. 101-02). The jury acquitted Avery of mutilating a corpse. (257).

The court sentenced Avery to life imprisonment without the possibility of release on extended supervision for the homicide conviction, and imposed a concurrent ten-year sentence for the possession of a firearm conviction. (288, 289).

Avery subsequently filed a motion for postconviction relief, seeking a new trial. (350; 351). After the parties filed pre-hearing briefs, the court held an evidentiary hearing on the postconviction motion on September 28, 2009. (352, 353, 356, 362). The parties filed post-hearing briefs, and on January 25, 2010, the court denied the postconviction motion in a written order and decision. (370; App.103-208). Avery then filed a timely notice of appeal. (371).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Avery sets forth an overview and then a discussion of the facts relevant to the legal issues presented in his appeal.

Overview of the Evidence Presented at Trial

In October of 2005, Teresa Halbach was 25 years old. She was starting up a photography business and worked as a freelance photographer, taking photographs for Auto Trader magazine. (306:166; 307:21). Auto Trader is a magazine which contains advertisements and photos of automobiles for sale.

In October of 2005, Allan and Delores Avery lived on a 40-acre piece of property in Manitowoc County where Allan Avery had a salvage yard business. (308:11). Two of their sons, Charles and Steven, lived on the property and also worked in the family business. (*Id.*). A third son, Earl, worked at the salvage yard but did not live on the property. (*Id.*). A daughter, Barb Janda, also lived on the property with three of her four sons, Bobby, Blaine and Brendan Dassey. (308:9). Janda was dating Scott Tadych. (316:124; 126). Charles Avery's trailer was located near the salvage yard office. (308:10). Steven Avery and Barb Janda each had a trailer further away from the office. Their trailers were located next to each other. (298:34).

Apart from these residences, there were other buildings in the yard, including the business office and garages, including a garage between the Janda and Steven Avery homes. Much of the property consisted of a "pit" containing cars and other items consistent with a salvage business, including a car crusher and a smelter. (308:13; 15-16).

Before October 31, 2005, Teresa Halbach had been to the Avery salvage yard to take photos several times. (307:22-24). One of the magazine employees explained that the majority of photography jobs were prearranged through the Auto Trader office, but that about ten percent of a photographer's shoots were "hustle shots." (307:45). A hustle shot is not prearranged through Auto Trader; but is arranged by the photographer directly with a customer on the spot. (307:45-46; 100). For example, a potential customer might flag down a photographer at a job to take a picture of another vehicle. Because hustle shots are not prearranged, the Auto Trader office does not know about such shots until after they occur, when the billing would take place. (307:56). A photographer earned more for a hustle shot than a shot prearranged through Auto Trader. (307:45-46). Ms. Halbach did many such hustle shots. (307:56; 100).

In October of 2005, Barb Janda wanted to sell a van. On October 31, Steven Avery phoned Auto Trader and requested that the photographer who had previously taken pictures at the salvage yard come to take pictures of the van. Ms. Halbach notified Auto Trader that she would schedule a stop at the Avery property that day. She also had appointments at two other residences where she photographed cars for sale. (307:122-123; 130). One customer, Steven Schmitz, testified that Ms. Halbach was at his home at about 1:30 p.m. and photographed a car for sale. (307; 122). The other customer, Joanne Zipperer, said that Ms. Halbach was at their home in the mid-afternoon, she thought at approximately 3:00 p.m. (307:129).

That same day, Bobby Dassey was home from working at his third-shift job. (298:35). He testified he was home alone at his mother's trailer, located next to Steven Avery's trailer, sleeping. At about 2:30 p.m., he woke

up and noticed a light green SUV pulling up their driveway. (*Id.* at 36). He testified he saw Teresa Halbach get out of the SUV and begin to take pictures of his mother's van and then walk towards Steven's trailer (*Id.* at 37-38). Bobby went to take a three-to-four minute shower, dressed, and left to go bow-hunting for deer. (*Id.* at 38-39). He thought he left his home at about 2:45 p.m. (*Id.*). When he left, he said that Halbach's car was still in the driveway. (*Id.* at 40).

As Bobby was driving to his deer stand, he passed Scott Tadych, Barb Janda's boyfriend, also driving down the same road. (308:39). Bobby did not get any deer, and returned home at around 5:00 p.m. (*Id.* at 41). He testified he did not see Ms. Halbach's car when he returned. (*Id.*). Bobby watched television and went to sleep for about three hours (*Id.*).

Tadych also went hunting that day. (316:123). Tadych testified that at about 3:00 p.m., he went bow-hunting, and that as he drove on Highway 147, going west, he saw Bobby Dassey driving east. (*Id.* at 124). He testified that earlier in the day, he had visited his mother who was in the hospital in Green Bay. (316:125). Tadych testified that after visiting his mother, and after deer hunting, he went to Barb Janda's home at about 5:00, picked her up, and drove back to Green Bay to again visit his mother. (308:127). They visited until 7:15 or 7:30 p.m., and he again drove to the Avery property to drop Janda off so that she could pick up her car. (*Id.* at 128). Tadych testified that he arrived at the Janda home at about 7:30 p.m. or 7:45 p.m., noticed a big fire just south of Steven Avery's garage, and saw Steven standing by the fire. (*Id.* at 130).

After dropping Janda off at her home, Tadych said he returned home, arriving there before 8:00 p.m., in time to

watch "Prison Break" on television. (308:132). Janda joined him at his home, and she left at about 10:30 or 11:00 p.m. (308:133).¹

Blaine and Brendan Dassey were also home for at least part of the day on October 31. Blaine, who was 18 years old at the time of the trial, testified he was released from school at 3:05 p.m., and that he took the bus home, as usual, arriving at 3:40 p.m. (316:57). Blaine played on the computer and Brendan played video games. (*Id.* at 69). Blaine testified that Bobby was home sleeping when they walked in from school, and that he and Brendan woke Bobby up when they got home. (*Id.*). Blaine left at about 5:30 p.m. to go trick or treating, returning at about 11:00 p.m. (*Id.* at 64-65).

The school bus driver also testified regarding her observations on October 31, as she, too, was at the salvage yard. Lisa Buchner drove the bus that Blaine and Brendan Dassey rode to and from school every day. (323:108). She dropped the Dassey boys off at the end of Avery road each day at between 3:30 p.m. and 3:40 p.m. (*Id.* at 110). Buchner said that on October 31, when she dropped off the boys off, she saw a woman taking photographs of a van in the driveway. (*Id.* at 111).

John Leurquin was also in the vicinity of the salvage yard on October 31. Leurquin worked for Valders Co-op delivering propane. (323:122). On October 31, he filled his truck at the filling station near the Avery salvage yard at approximately 3:30 p.m. (*Id.* at 126). Leurquin testified that on that day, as he sat at the filling station, he noticed a green SUV drive past the front of his truck going away from the

¹ On cross-examination, Tadych was less sure about when Janda left his home. He had told the police that Janda had stayed the night at his residence. (308:148).

Avery salvage yard in the direction of the highway. (*Id.* at 127-29). Leurquin testified that he later thought it might have been Ms. Halbach's car. (*Id.* at 133).

Earl Avery was also at the salvage yard on October 31. Robert Fabian, a friend of Earl's, testified that he went to the salvage yard shortly before 5:00 p.m. and that when he arrived, Earl was working. (316:118). Earl and Fabian took their rifles and went rabbit hunting on the Avery property, driving a golf cart. (*Id.*).

Teresa Halbach worked with and shared office space with Thomas Pearce. On Thursday, November 3, 2005, Pearce called Ms. Halbach's mother because he was concerned that he had not seen Ms. Halbach for a few days. (306: 200). That same day, Halbach's family reported her missing. (306:170-173). They contacted the police as well as friends who might know of her whereabouts. (*Id.*). Ms. Halbach's friends organized a search for her, and on November 4, 2005, Pam and Nikole Sturm joined in the effort to find Teresa Halbach. (307:197).

Because they believed that the Avery salvage yard was where Ms. Halbach had last been seen, the Sturms went to that property. (307:199-200). Pam Sturm spoke with Earl Avery, and Earl gave them permission to look around. (307:202-203). After a short time, the Sturms located the Toyota RAV4, which was later identified as belonging to Ms. Halbach. (307:209-215). Pam Sturm called Marinette County Sheriff Jerome Pagel and reported that she had found a car she believed was Teresa Halbach's. (*Id.*).

Law enforcement officers soon appeared at the scene, beginning an extensive investigation. They secured the 40-acre property, preventing the Averys and others from entering the property until November 12, 2005. (309:127).

In various searches of the property, police found burned human remains in three different locations, including behind Steven Avery's garage. Bone fragments, including skull fragments, were found. (317:125). A state expert who examined the fragments determined defects in the skull fragments were caused by gunshots. (317:166; 172). The state tested blood found in Ms. Halbach's car and concluded it matched Steven Avery's blood. During the sixth search of Avery's trailer, police found the ignition key to the RAV4. The Crime Lab later tested the key and concluded Steven Avery's DNA was on it.

On November 15, 2005, the state filed a criminal complaint which charged Steven Avery with the murder of Ms. Halbach, as well as mutilation of a corpse.

During subsequent searches in March of 2006, a bullet fragment was found in Avery's garage. Testing revealed Ms. Halbach's DNA on the bullet fragment. A firearm and toolmark examiner testified the bullet fragment came from a rifle found in Steven Avery's trailer. (318:116).

The case proceeded to trial in February of 2007. The theory of defense was that the police framed Steven Avery for a crime he did not commit. The defense claimed that police officers who had access to a vial containing Steven Avery's blood, which was located in the clerk of court's office, planted Steven's blood in Ms. Halbach's car, and that the ignition key was planted as well. The defense claimed that Avery did not kill Halbach, and that he did not know who killed her, but that the police framed him by planting evidence which would lead to his conviction. The motive for the frame-up was retaliation as Avery had sued the Manitowoc Police Department for a previous wrongful conviction and wrongful imprisonment. Indeed, two officers

who found the key, James Lenk and Andrew Colborn, had a month earlier been deposed as witnesses in Avery's lawsuit. (311:138-40; 231-32).

As to the burned human remains, the defense presented an expert who testified the bones may have been burned elsewhere and moved to the location behind Avery's garage. (324:152-53).

The jury ultimately convicted Steven Avery of first degree intentional homicide and possession of a firearm, and acquitted him of the charge of mutilation of a corpse.

Multiple Entries into Steven Avery's Home Based on the November 5 Warrant

Following the discovery of Teresa Halbach's vehicle on the property of Avery Auto Salvage, police officers obtained a search warrant authorizing the search of: (1) Avery's residence, which was a single-family trailer located within the salvage yard; (2) the trailer of Barb Janda, also located within the salvage yard; and (3) the 40-acre salvage yard property, containing various outbuildings and numerous vehicles. (101:225; 125:21-2; 337:133; App. 245-49). The warrant authorized police to search for Halbach, her vehicle, clothing and camera equipment, forensic evidence such as blood, hair, fibers and fingerprints, and weapons or instruments capable of taking human life. (337:134; App. 246).

The warrant was issued on Saturday, November 5, 2005. (*Id.*). Between Saturday and Wednesday, November 9, when police obtained a new warrant, law enforcement officers and crime lab personnel entered Avery's trailer on seven occasions. (151:8-16; App. 231-39). They entered

Avery's home twice on Saturday, twice on Sunday, and once each on Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday. (*Id.*).

Significant to this appeal, it was not until the search conducted following the sixth entry, on Tuesday, November 8, that police found lying on the floor of Avery's bedroom a key to Halbach's vehicle. (125:209-10). The key was the only item belonging to Ms. Halbach that was found in the multiple searches of Avery's trailer. (309:199, 206, 221). None of Halbach's blood, hair or clothing was found in the seven searches of Avery's trailer pursuant to the warrant issued on November 5, or, for that matter, in any other searches of his trailer. (311:58-60; 315:33-4, 106).

The search warrant was first executed on Saturday, November 5, when two officers entered Avery's trailer and conducted a ten-minute search looking for Halbach and her clothing. (126:5-6). The officers found nothing. (*Id.* at 6).²

At 7:30 p.m. on November 5, four officers re-entered Avery's residence and conducted a two-and-a-half hour search of the 700-square-foot trailer. (125:198-99; 126:133). All four officers – James Lenk, Andrew Colborn, David Remiker and William Tyson – participated in the search of Avery's bedroom. (125:200-02; 311:90). Remiker collected 10 to 20 swabs of suspected blood stains, including from the door frame to Avery's bedroom, and, on his hands and knees, used a lint roller over the carpeting in the bedroom to collect trace hair and other evidence. (126:11-17, 32). Colborn searched a bookcase and desk near Avery's bed and seized handcuffs and leg irons from the bookcase. (311:91). The four officers seized about 50 items that evening,

² The day before, police had entered the trailer with Avery's consent and also found nothing. (126:6).

including bedding and a vacuum cleaner bag and filter. (125:200; 126:17-18).

Remiker testified the search continued as long as necessary that evening. (126:18). They left without seizing guns and pornographic magazines due to their uncertainty whether those items were covered by the warrant. (*Id.* at 19). Lenk testified that when the officers left the trailer that evening, he believed they had seized everything of evidentiary value. (125:202-03).

The next day, the two lead investigators – Thomas Fassbender and Mark Wiegert – directed Remiker and Lenk, along with Lieutenant Daniel Kucharski, to re-enter Avery's trailer for the purpose of seizing several guns, including one located in Avery's bedroom, the vacuum cleaner and bedding from the second bedroom. (125:206-07; 126:24-5). The officers were in the trailer for about 25 minutes. (125:206). Also on the evening of November 6, State Crime Lab personnel entered and searched Avery's trailer using alternate light sources to look for blood. (126:87-8). On Monday, November 7, Lenk and two other officers were directed to enter Avery's trailer to obtain the serial number of his computer, which took about five minutes. (125:207-08). The information was used to obtain a search warrant to seize the computer. (126:137; 337:115-20).

The sixth entry and search of Avery's trailer occurred on Tuesday, November 8. (151:14; App. 237). Lenk, Colborn and Kucharski searched the trailer for three-and-a-half hours. (125:208-09; 126:48-9). The officers had been told to seize the computer located in the living room, swab blood stains found in the bathroom by the crime lab, and seize pornography from the bookcase in the bedroom. (125:210; 311:95-6, 122-26). During the course of his hour-long search

of Avery's bedroom that day, Colborn searched the bookcase for pornographic material. (311:123, 125). The officer tipped and twisted the bookcase, pulling it away from the wall. (*Id.* at 126). Lenk left the bedroom to get a box to hold the pornographic material. (*Id.* at 127). When Lenk returned, he noticed a Toyota key on the floor of the bedroom. (125:210; 311:130).

Police made a seventh entry into Avery's trailer on the next day, November 9, before a second warrant was obtained to continue searching the salvage yard, including Avery's residence. (125:212; 126:108; 337:47-55).

Avery moved to suppress evidence obtained pursuant to the search warrant issued on November 5, challenging as unlawful the multiple entries to his home following the more than two-hour search on November 5. (66; 132; 139).³ Following an evidentiary hearing, the court denied Avery's motion. (151; App. 224-44).

The court concluded, first, that the multiple entries were permissible because, in addition to authorizing a search of Avery's residence, the warrant authorized a search of the entire salvage yard, which, due to its size and contents, necessitated a multi-day search. (*Id.* at 4-6; App. 227-29). Second, even if the multiple entries of Avery's residence were separately evaluated, the court concluded that each entry was justified as a reasonable continuation of the prior searches, with the exception of the seventh entry on November 9. (*Id.* at 6-16; App. 229-39). Third, and of particular significance for this appeal, the court determined that the seizure of the pornographic materials from Avery's bedroom exceeded the scope of the warrant and, therefore,

³ Avery's motion also challenged the multiple entries to his garage, a claim not pursued on appeal.

were ordered suppressed. (*Id.* at 15; App. 238). Finally, the court ruled that even if some of the re-entries were unlawful, the evidence, except for the pornographic material, was admissible under the inevitable discovery rule. (*Id.* at 16-21; App. 239-44).

The Defense Effort to Introduce Evidence of Alternative Perpetrators

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