#### **RECEIVED**

11-09-2010

## STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL DISTRICT II

Case No. 2010AP411-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

STEVEN A. AVERY,
Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MANITOWOC COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE PATRICK L. WILLIS, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General JEFFREY J. KASSEL Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 1009170 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

## C. Avery did not carry his burden under *Denny*.

Denny requires that a defendant who seeks to introduce evidence of a third party's guilt must establish a "legitimate tendency" that makes the proposition plausible by showing proof of motive, opportunity, and a direct connection to the crime charged. *Denny*, 120 Wis. 2d at 623-24. Avery has not met that burden.

With regard to motive, Avery argues that "[g]iven that the state failed to prove that anyone had a motive, one is left with only possibilities, such as a sexual assault that led to a homicide, or an effort to hide evidence of a crime such as sexual assault." Avery's brief-in-chief at 64. That is not proof of motive, however, but speculation.

Avery suggests an additional motive: if someone else killed Ms. Halbach, that individual "would have a motive to save his own skin" by blaming Avery. Avery's brief-in-chief at 64. The trial court held that that argument, offered for the first time in Avery's postconviction motion, had

been waived because Avery did not raise it in his pretrial proffer (370:85; A-Ap. 187). Forfeiture aside, the problem with that theory is that it provides a motive for someone to frame Avery but not for killing Ms. Halbach.

Avery says that he has satisfied the opportunity and direct connection to the crime prongs of the *Denny* test because Scott Tadych, Bobby Dassey, Earl Avery, and Charles Avery were at the Avery Salvage Yard at some point during the period when Ms. Halbach likely was killed. Under Avery's reasoning, if someone was stabbed to death during halftime at a Milwaukee Bucks game, the defendant could put forth evidence regarding any or all 15,000 attendees as the possible killer. That is why proof of motive is essential feature of *Denny*'s legitimate tendency test. Because Avery has not offered any proof that any third person had a motive to kill Ms.Halbach. he has met Denny's not requirements.

D. Even if *Denny* does not apply, Avery has not shown that he was precluded from introducing any admissible evidence.

Avery has not identified any evidence relating to Charles or Earl Avery that he was precluded from introducing as a result of the trial court's ruling. *See supra*, pp. 42-43. The evidence that Avery says that he might have introduced regarding Bobby Dassey and Scott Tadych falls into two categories: 1) evidence that would have impeached their testimony about their whereabouts on October 31, 2005; and 2) evidence

about Tadych's temper, his attempt to sell a .22 caliber long rifle shortly after Halbach's murder, and his leaving work when he heard that one of the Dassey boys had been arrested or was being questioned by the police.

As discussed above, Avery has not identified any specific impeachment evidence relating to Tadych or Bobby Dassey that he was precluded from introducing. See supra, pp. 38-42. With regard to the non-impeachment evidence relating to Scott Tadych, the State previously has pointed out that the trial court ruled in its postconviction decision that the evidence regarding Tadych's temper was inadmissible other-acts evidence (370:89-93; A-Ap. 191-95). In his appellate brief, Avery does not address that ruling, thereby conceding its validity. Schlieper, 188 Wis. 2d at 322.

Avery's brief also fails to explain the relevance of the purported evidence that, at some unspecified time after Ms. Halbach's death. Tadych attempted to sell a .22 caliber rifle that belonged to one of the Dassey brothers (169:11; 351:22). The .22 caliber rifle that fired the bullet that tested positive for Ms. Halbach's DNA was found in Avery's bedroom, and that rifle did not belong to any of the Dassey brothers (314:168; 318:116; 323:160-61). Moreover, the State's firearms expert testified on cross-examination that the Marlin .22 caliber rifle is very common, with tens of thousands of them having been made over the years (318:146-47). Because Avery has not developed an argument explaining why Tadych's attempt to sell a rifle is relevant and, if relevant, sufficiently so to be admissible under Wis. Stat. § 904.03, his claim that the court erroneously excluded that evidence should be rejected. O'Connell, 179 Wis. 2d at 609.

Finally, with regard to evidence that Tadych left work suddenly when he heard that one of the Dassey boys had been arrested or was being questioned by the police, Avery has failed to explain why that would be probative of Tadych's guilt or anything else, for that matter. Again, Avery's failure to provide a basis for admitting this evidence prevents this court from determining that the trial court erred when it excluded the evidence.

## III. AVERY IS NOT ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE AN ALTERNATE JUROR WAS SUBSTITUTED AFTER DELIBERATIONS BEGAN.

Avery also seeks a new trial because the court removed a deliberating juror — without cause, he says — and substituted an alternate juror. If Avery were to prevail on this claim, his remedy would be a new trial at which twelve jurors who heard all of the evidence would decide his guilt. He would, therefore, receive the same trial he just had.

Avery's brief cites numerous decisions, primarily by federal courts of appeals, to support his claim. However, Avery has not cited a single case in which an appellate court has ordered a new trial after the defendant consented to the removal of a juror and to the substitution of an

alternate juror.<sup>6</sup> Because twelve jurors who heard all of the evidence decided this case, and because Avery expressly consented to the juror's substitution, neither the Constitution, the statutes, nor common sense requires that Avery be granted a new trial.

A. All but one of Avery's claims regarding the substituted juror have been forfeited or are barred under the invited error and judicial estoppel doctrines.

The jury began its first day of deliberations in the afternoon of March 15, 2007, and deliberated for about four hours before stopping for the day (362:13, 136). At around 9:00 p.m. that evening, the court received a call from the sheriff, who said that one of the jurors, Richard Mahler, wished to be excused because of a family emergency (359:1; A-Ap. 250). The court was informed that "the juror felt it was vital for his marriage that he be excused" (*id*.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In only two of the cases cited by Avery was a new trial ordered after a new juror was substituted for a dismissed juror and the case decided by a twelve-member jury. In both of those cases, however, the defendant either objected to the juror's removal or moved for a mistrial before the jury returned its verdict. See United States v. Symington, 195 F.3d 1080, 1084 (9th Cir. 1999); Hinton v. United States, 979 A.2d 663, 669 (D.C. 2009). In the other cases cited by Avery in which a new trial was ordered, the defendant was convicted by an eleven-member jury after a juror was removed over the defendant's objection. See United States v. Ginvard, 444 F.3d 648, 650 (D.C. Cir. 2006); United States v. Curbelo, 343 F.3d 273, 278-85 (4th Cir. 2003): United States v. Araujo, 62 F.3d 930, 932 (7th Cir. 1995); United States v. Essex, 734 F.2d 832, 834 (D.C. Cir. 1984).

The court held a telephone conference with defense counsel and one of the prosecutors to discuss how to proceed (id.). At that time, Judge Willis was in Manitowoc, Avery's lawyers, Dean Strang and Jerome Buting, were having dinner at a restaurant in Appleton, the prosecutors were in Chilton and Appleton, and Avery was in jail in Chilton (362:230; 370:3-4; A-Ap. 105-06). Counsel agreed that if the information conveyed by the sheriff was correct, excusing the juror was 250). appropriate (359:1:A-Ap. Counsel authorized the court to speak with the juror and to excuse the juror if the information was verified (*id*.).

The court then spoke with Mr. Mahler (359:2; A-Ap. 251). Mahler confirmed the information that had been reported to the court about several issues relating to his marriage, leading the court to conclude that Mahler "felt the future of his marriage was at stake if he was not excused" (*id.*). The court excused Mahler from service (*id.*).

The next morning, the court held an inchambers conference with counsel (362:95). The court and counsel agreed that the three available options were to continue deliberations with eleven jurors, to declare a mistrial, or to allow the alternate juror to join the deliberations, with the jury instructed to begin deliberations anew (362:96). Avery's lawyers then left to consult with Avery (362:97). They recommended to him that he not choose a mistrial and that the deliberations should proceed with twelve jurors (362:101-02, 153-54).

The court then went on the record with Avery present and recounted the events of the previous evening (329:4-8; R-Ap. 113-17). Avery

did not object to anything that the court had done (329:4-5; R-Ap. 113-14). Defense counsel then proposed a stipulation: "One, if the Court gives a proper instruction that jury deliberations must begin entirely anew[,] [a]nd, two, if each of the 11 presently deliberating jurors provides satisfactory assurance that they can and will follow an instruction to begin deliberations anew, then, three, the defense will agree that the person who has been the alternate to date should join the ranks of the 11, becoming the 12th regular juror and the deliberations may begin anew with this newly composed group of 12" (329:5-6; R-Ap. 114-15). The prosecutor joined the stipulation (329:6; R-Ap. 115).

The court then conducted a colloquy with Avery that confirmed Avery's understanding that he had the right to request a mistrial or require a jury of twelve, that he had sufficient time to discuss the matter with counsel, and that he was in agreement with the proposed stipulation (329:7-8; R-Ap. 116-17). The court found that Avery had knowingly and voluntarily consented to the stipulation (329:8; R-Ap. 117).

By failing to object to the procedures followed by the trial court, to the court's decision to remove the juror, or to the substitution of the alternate juror, Avery has forfeited his challenges to those actions. See State v. Holt, 128 Wis. 2d 110, 124, 382 N.W.2d 679 (Ct. App. 1985). Moreover, because he offered the stipulation that resulted in the alternate juror participating in the deliberations, the doctrines of invited error and judicial estoppel bar Avery from challenging the substitution of the alternate juror.

An appellate court will generally not review an error that was "invited" or induced by the appellant in the trial court. Shawn B.N. v. State, 173 Wis. 2d 343, 372, 497 N.W.2d 141 (Ct. App. The concept of invited error is closely related to the doctrine of judicial estoppel, which recognizes that "[i]t is contrary to fundamental principles of justice and orderly procedure to permit a party to assume a certain position in the course of litigation which may be advantageous, and then after the court maintains that position, argue on appeal that the action was error." State v. Gove, 148 Wis. 2d 936, 944, 437 N.W.2d 218 (1989). Having proposed the stipulation that led to the seating of the alternate juror, Avery cannot now be heard to complain that it was erroneous to do that.

There is one exception to the State's preclusion argument. When a defendant has the right to be present at a proceeding, he must personally waive that right. State v. Anderson, 2006 WI 77, ¶71, 291 Wis. 2d 673, 717 N.W.2d 74. Accordingly, the State will not argue that Avery is precluded from arguing that his right to be present when the court spoke with Juror Mahler was violated.

B. The court employed procedures appropriate to the circumstances of the case.

Avery argues that the trial court failed to follow the procedures prescribed in *State v. Lehman*, 108 Wis. 2d 291, 321 N.W.2d 212 (1982), when a juror seeks to be excused because (1) he had an unwaiveable right to be present with counsel when the court spoke with the juror; (2) there was no contemporaneous record of that

discussion; and (3) the court did not conduct an adequate inquiry into the juror's concerns. Those claims are without merit.

1. Any violation of Avery's right to be present during questioning of the juror was harmless error.

Avery argues that he had the right to be present when the court spoke with Juror Mahler and that his lawyers' consent to the court's ex communication with the iuror ineffective because "only Avery himself could waive [that] right." Avery's brief-in-chief at 74. The State agrees that, as a general rule, a defendant has the right to be present personally and by counsel during voir dire and that the defendant must personally waive that right. See Anderson, 291 Wis. 2d 673, ¶71; State v. Tulley, 2001 WI App 236, ¶6, 248 Wis. 2d 505, 635 N.W.2d 807.

The trial court acknowledged this general rule but noted that there are no reported Wisconsin decisions that address the issue "in the context of the facts of this case, that is, when a juror reports an emergency during late evening hours while court is not in session and the parties and counsel are not readily available" (370:15; A-Ap. 117). The court observed that federal courts have held that the constitutional requirement that the defendant be present during communications between the court and a jury is not without exception (370:15-16; A-Ap. 117-18). The court noted that in *United States v. Gagnon*, 470 U.S. 522, 526 (1985), the Supreme Court held that "[t]he defense has no constitutional right to be present at every interaction between a judge and a

juror" (370:16; A-Ap. 118), and that in *United States v. Carson*, 455 F.3d 336, 354 (D.C. Cir. 2006), the D.C. Circuit held that the trial court had not erred when it communicated *ex parte* with a sick juror because the communications were unrelated to the merits of the case and their substance was reported in open court (370:16-17; A-Ap. 118-19).

The circuit court further held that even if its contact with Juror Mahler violated Avery's right to be present, the error was harmless (370:18-19; A-Ap. 120-21). In his appellate brief, Avery does not address the court's harmless error ruling, see Avery's brief-in-chief at 72-74, thereby conceding its validity. Schlieper, 188 Wis. 2d at 322. Moreover, the trial court was correct.

Violations of a defendant's right to be present are subject to a harmless error analysis. Tulley, 248 Wis. 2d 505, ¶¶10-11. In Tulley, the trial court, during  $voir\ dire$ , interviewed three potential jurors in chambers outside the presence of the defendant and counsel and then excused those jurors for cause. Id., ¶3. The court of appeals held that the trial court's discussion with the jurors violated the defendant's right to be present during  $voir\ dire$ , but that the error was harmless. Id., ¶¶10-11.

Tulley was present during the entire *voir dire* of all prospective jurors who served on the panel that convicted him. He does not assert that the jurors who served were not fair and impartial. He does not claim that the outcome of the trial was affected by the court's *in camera* discussions with the three jurors. Because the three prospective jurors with whom the court spoke *in camera* did not serve on the jury, we conclude that the State has met its burden to show that there is no reasonable possibility that the court's error

contributed to Tulley's conviction. Therefore, we conclude that the circuit court's *in camera* interview of three prospective jurors, though error, was harmless error.

Id., ¶11 (citation and footnote omitted); see also United States v. Doherty, 867 F.2d 47, 72 (1st Cir. 1989) (finding harmless error because judge's ex parte conversation with the subsequently dismissed juror "could not have influenced the excused juror's further deliberations, for there were none; nor could it have influenced the remaining eleven jurors, because the excused juror had no further contact with them").

The same reasoning applies here. Avery was present during the *voir dire* of all of the jurors who served on the panel that convicted him. The court's discussion with Juror Mahler could not have influenced Mahler's further deliberations, because there were none, nor could it have influenced the remaining jurors because Mahler had no further contact with them. Accordingly, the trial court's *ex parte* discussion with Juror Mahler, if erroneous, was harmless error.

2. *Lehman* does not require that the court's inquiry be recorded.

Noting that *Lehman* requires that the record support the court's decision to discharge a juror, Avery argues that the court erred by not questioning the juror on the record. *See* Avery's brief-in-chief at 74-75. However, as the trial court noted (370:12; A-Ap. 114), *Lehman* states that "[t]he circuit court's efforts depend on the circumstances of the case." *Lehman*, 108 Wis. 2d at 300. In this case, given the lateness of the hour and the apparent urgency of the situation, the

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